No. S260270

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

ROBERT LANDEROS VIVAR.

Defendant, Appellant, and Petitioner.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Two (Case No. E070926)

Appeal from the Superior Court of the County of Riverside The Honorable Bambi J. Moyer (Case No. RIF101988)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON LLP Joseph Lee (SB No. 110840) (pro bono)

Joseph.Lee@mto.com 350 South Grand Avenue, 50th Floor Los Angeles, California 90071-3426

> Telephone: (213) 683-9100 Facsimile: (213) 687-3702

MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON LLP *Dane Shikman (SB No. 313656)

(pro bono)

ISSUES PRESENTED

The petition for review presented the following issues:

- 1. Penal Code section 1473.7 allows non-citizens to challenge old, unlawful convictions based on guilty pleas with unanticipated immigration consequences, on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel, when a defendant can show that he would have not entered the guilty plea if he were properly advised. Courts of Appeal routinely rely on contextual evidence (e.g., the defendant's family ties to the United States or lack of connection to the country of deportation, pre-plea statements of concern about immigration, or post-plea conduct indicating confusion about the plea), in deciding whether the defendant was prejudiced by the error. The Court of Appeal here acknowledged the existence of such contextual evidence but concluded that Petitioner offered "no contemporaneous evidence" supporting his claim of prejudice. Did the Court of Appeal err in adopting a novel per se rule rejecting contextual evidence when evaluating prejudice under Penal Code section 1473.7?
- 2. California appellate courts have held that a trial court's factual findings relating to prejudice do not warrant deference when based only on written or documentary evidence. Without reaching the issue of prejudice here, the trial court observed that Petitioner "was more willing to rely on his experiences than he was on his counsel's advice." This observation was predicated not on witness testimony, but rather on a cold record of written and documentary evidence alone, most of which was over a decade old. The Court of Appeal nonetheless deferred to the trial court observation in finding that, even though Petitioner suffered ineffective assistance of counsel, he was not prejudiced by that deficiency. Did the Court of Appeal err in deferring to the trial court's factual findings, which were based solely on written and documentary evidence?

INTRODUCTION

Robert Landeros Vivar came to the United States in 1962 as a legal permanent resident when he was six years old. Over the next forty years, he built a fulfilling life in California, with citizen children and grandchildren. In 2002, he was arrested for shoplifting cold medication from a grocery store. Facing multiple felony charges, Mr. Vivar informed his defense counsel that he was concerned about the immigration consequences of pleading guilty. His entire family was in the California, he had no connections to Mexico, and he did not speak Spanish natively.

His counsel advised him that immigration consequences were possible because he was not a citizen, but failed to explain the actual immigration effects of his plea options. Without the benefit of legal advice on the potential immigration consequences—advice to which he was constitutionally entitled—Mr. Vivar was left to rely on his own experiences and judgment. Although he received a plea offer to felony burglary, Penal Code § 459, he was unaware that this plea was immigration-safe. Mr. Vivar thus declined that plea offer and accepted a felony drug plea to possession of methamphetamine precursors with intent to manufacture, Health & Safety ("H&S") Code § 11383(c), which he wrongly believed preserved an avenue for him to remain in the United States legally as he had done for forty years, and gave him the opportunity to participate in incustody treatment to fight his drug addiction.

That erroneous decision had an immediate and devastating impact on Mr.Vivar's life. The drug charge to which he pleaded guilty was an "aggravated felony" under immigration law, which rendered him immediately and unavoidably deportable. Mr. Vivar was shocked to learn, mere days later, that he was placed on an immigration hold. He spent the next several months in custody imploring the trial court to reopen his case to rectify this mistake. But each of his letters went unanswered. In January

2003, Mr. Vivar was deported, and while he returned for a period of time, he remains exiled from his family to this day.

After Mr. Vivar spent years unsuccessfully fighting to undo this result in the courts, the Legislature enacted a new law, Penal Code § 1473.7, permitting non-citizens to challenge old, unlawful convictions on the basis of "prejudicial error[s]" that impaired a defendant's ability to "meaningfully understand, defend against, or knowingly accept" the immigration consequences of pleading guilty. Mr. Vivar filed a motion to vacate his conviction under this statute, arguing that he received ineffective assistance of counsel, which prejudiced him because he would have declined the plea to H&S Code § 11383(c) had he been properly advised that it would trigger mandatory deportation.

The trial court denied Mr. Vivar's motion, finding that he failed to prove ineffective assistance of counsel. The Court of Appeal disagreed with that conclusion, holding that counsel's advice was constitutionally deficient, but it nonetheless affirmed the denial of Mr. Vivar's motion on the ground that such deficiency did not prejudice him. According to the Court of Appeal, Mr. Vivar would have entered the same guilty plea even if he had understood the immigration consequences or been properly advised. This conclusion was manifestly erroneous, and it warrants reversal.

Under section 1473.7, an error is "prejudicial" when there is a reasonable probability that the defendant, absent the error, would not have entered the plea. Because this inquiry focuses on what a defendant would have done in a counterfactual world, the Court must draw inferences from contemporaneous evidence at or near the time of the plea that tend to corroborate, or negate, a defendant's assertion of prejudice.

Here, there is at least a reasonable probability that Mr. Vivar would not have accepted the drug plea had he known that it would subject him to mandatory deportation. Mr. Vivar's deep roots to the California community, his lack of any meaningful connections to Mexico, and the availability of an alternative, immigration-safe plea combine to make it reasonably likely that he would have declined the drug plea. Mr. Vivar's pre-plea emphasis on deportation, and his post-plea letters to the trial court asking to undo the plea, further corroborate his assertion of prejudice.

The Court of Appeal sidestepped this evidence, and reasoned that Mr. Vivar's rejection of the immigration-safe plea revealed his indifference to the risk of deportation. But the court failed to acknowledge the obvious explanation for why Mr. Vivar turned that option down: *He did not realize the plea was immigration-safe*, given his lawyer's failure to advise him on that point. Indeed, the Court of Appeal itself found that Mr. Vivar did not receive adequate legal advice, so its rationale that Mr. Vivar must not have prioritized immigration safety due to his rejection of the burglary plea does not follow.

The Court of Appeal attempted to support its shaky reasoning by focusing on the prejudice from *counsel*'s error in rendering advice, rather than on defendant's *own* error in understanding immigration consequences. Acknowledging that Mr. Vivar never received the legal advice to which he was entitled, the Court of Appeal speculated that Mr. Vivar would not have listened to his lawyer anyway, so he therefore cannot show that counsel's inadequate performance had any effect on his decision-making.

The Court of Appeal's reliance on Mr. Vivar's receptivity to counsel's advice gives rise to an antecedent question of what "error" supplies the prejudice under section 1473.7—the defendant's own error in misunderstanding immigration consequences, or counsel's error in rendering advice. As demonstrated here, the former framework (*i.e.*, defendant's own error) represents the correct interpretation of section 1473.7, and provides the cleanest and easiest way to dispose of this appeal. Under that framework, the question is whether Mr. Vivar would have

rejected the drug plea if he had correctly *understood* the immigration effects of his plea options. For the reasons stated, the answer is clearly yes. The Court of Appeal's backup argument that he would not have listened to his counsel's advice is irrelevant under that standard, because *even if* he would have blinded himself to such advice, he still would have been proceeding under misunderstanding of law, and *that* error prejudiced him.

The same result follows if this Court adopts a narrower interpretation of section 1473.7, and requires error by *counsel* to ground a motion for vacatur. Had Mr. Vivar been properly advised, he would have understood not only that the drug plea would exile him to an unfamiliar land, but also that the in-custody treatment program he wanted to fight his addiction was actually unavailable to him. The Court of Appeal's conjecture that Mr. Vivar would have been unwilling to listen even to counsel's correct advice has no basis in the record or in common sense. Had counsel given him the kind of direct and accurate advice required by the Constitution—i.e., that he would be deported and ineligible for incustody treatment if he entered the drug plea—then it is at least reasonably probable that Mr. Vivar would never have entered the plea. Indeed, it is difficult to fathom how any rational defendant in Mr. Vivar's position would have done so. The Court of Appeal's misguided reasoning to the contrary entrenches an unjust and unlawful result that Mr. Vivar has been fighting for almost two decades to correct.

This Court should reverse the decision below, and remand with instructions to grant the motion for vacatur.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual Background

1. Petitioner Robert Vivar was six years old when his family left Mexico with dreams of a better life in the United States. (I CT 136.) His

family entered the United States in 1962 as legal permanent residents, settling in Lake Elsinore, California. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Vivar was a legal resident of California for the following forty-one years. (I CT 137.)

Even as a child, Mr. Vivar quickly adapted to life in the United States. Despite being born in Mexico, his native language is English. (I CT 137, 139.) In 1969, Mr. Vivar's family moved from Lake Elsinore to Corona, California. (I CT 136.) Mr. Vivar attended Corona schools from elementary school through high school. (*Ibid.*) In high school, as the Vietnam War raged, Mr. Vivar helped establish the school's ROTC program, which still exists today. (*Ibid.*) His older brother, Martin, served as a tank commander sergeant in the Vietnam War as part of the Ninth Armored First Cavalry Black Horse Unit. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Vivar, too, was eager to serve his country in Vietnam and registered for the draft. (I CT 136–137.) Although Mr. Vivar hoped to join his brother, the war ended a few months after he completed high school. (I CT 136.)

After graduation, in an effort to support himself and his family, Mr. Vivar accepted a job working for an airline. (I CT 137.) He was a diligent worker, and the airline soon promoted him to a management position that required him to work both a night shift at the airport and a day shift in the office. (*Ibid.*) Because his new position required him to work both day and night, Mr. Vivar was able to sleep for only three to four hours per day. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Vivar turned to amphetamines to stay awake, but unfortunately developed an addiction. (*Ibid.*)

In 1998 or 1999, Mr. Vivar first entered drug treatment, participating in a Residential Substance Abuse Treatment ("RSAT") program. (I CT 138.) Determined to beat his addiction, Mr. Vivar successfully completed the program and remained clean for two or three years. (I CT 138.) As often happens to those in Mr. Vivar's position, he relapsed in 2001. (*Ibid.*)

2. On February 16, 2002, Mr. Vivar was arrested at an Albertsons grocery store in Corona, while attempting to shoplift twelve boxes of Sudafed cold medication. (I CT 76–77.) He had no plans to manufacture any drugs himself, but rather planned to trade the Sudafed for methamphetamine for personal consumption. (I CT 77.) The arrest culminated in a two-count complaint filed on February 20, 2002. (I CT 4.) Mr. Vivar faced felony charges of (1) violation of H&S Code § 11383(c) (possession of methamphetamine precursors with intent to manufacture); and (2) violation of Penal Code § 666 (petty theft with a prior), based on a previous conviction for possession of stolen property. (*Id.*) The trial court appointed counsel for Mr. Vivar. (I CT 138.)

Mr. Vivar had multiple plea options available to him. First, Mr. Vivar recalls his lawyer conveying an offer of a felony plea with a three-year sentence. (I CT 138–139.) He does not remember (and the record does not indicate) the specific offense offered at that time, but he recalls rejecting that offer believing that it would cause adverse immigration consequences. (I CT 138.) He assumed that all felonies resulted in deportation, and that all misdemeanor convictions were immigration-safe. (*Ibid.*) His lawyer did not correct this erroneous understanding of the law. (*Ibid.*) On this flawed premise, he informed his counsel that he was focused on immigration consequences, and asked her to secure a plea deal that could be reduced to a misdemeanor. (*Ibid.*) He also informed her that he had a drug problem, that he wanted treatment, and that he would enter a treatment program even if not required by the plea bargain. (I CT 139.)

Having rejected the unspecified felony offer above, Mr. Vivar's counsel relayed to him another offer for him to plead guilty to felony

¹ This section was amended and renumbered in 2006; the new version of this charge is listed as H&S Code § 11383.5. (See 2006 Cal. Legis. Serv. ch. 646 (Sept. 29, 2006) S.B. 1299.)

burglary, Penal Code § 459, with a "LT" (i.e., "low term") prison sentence. (I CT 173.) Following this plea, he likely would have served one year in prison.² Most importantly, however, Penal Code § 459 did not have adverse immigration consequences. (I CT 148; cf. *Descamps v. United States* (2013) 570 U.S. 254, 264-265 [no categorical match between generic "burglary," as the term is used in federal law, and California burglary].) While defense counsel presented this option to Mr. Vivar, *she did not inform him that this plea offer would have been immigration-safe*. (I CT 138 ["[M]y lawyer never discussed the immigration consequences of my plea options."].) Without knowing that Penal Code § 459 was the immigration-safe option on the table, Mr. Vivar walked away from it.

Instead, he accepted a different plea offer. The People offered a felony drug plea to possession of methamphetamine precursors with intent to manufacture, H&S Code § 11383(c), in exchange for an agreed-upon 365-day county jail sentence—with a stipulation that the Court would recommend admission to the RSAT (in-custody treatment) program—and that a low-term, two-year suspended sentence be imposed only if Mr. Vivar failed to complete that RSAT program. (I CT 9.) This plea bargain appealed to Mr. Vivar because he believed that it gave him not only the chance to avoid deportation by obtaining a misdemeanor reduction, but also an opportunity to overcome his drug addiction with the help of RSAT. (I CT 139.) While this disposition involved a felony, Mr. Vivar recalls his lawyer informing him that, if Mr. Vivar completed RSAT, he could petition the court to reduce his conviction to a misdemeanor, which (according to

_

² The low term for a burglary sentence in 2002 was two years. (Pen. Code, § 461, subd. (a), as amended by Stats. 1978, ch. 579, § 24.) At that time, Mr. Vivar would have been eligible for halftime credit on his prison sentence. (Pen. Code, § 2933, subd. (a), as amended by Stats. 1996, ch. 598, § 2.) His effective time in prison, assuming good conduct, would have thus been one year.

his flawed understanding of the law) would immunize him from the plea's immigration consequences. (See I CT 139; I RT 32.)

In unsworn email correspondence fourteen years later, Mr. Vivar's plea counsel recounted her statements differently from what Mr. Vivar attested to in his sworn declaration. She conceded that her general practice at the time of Mr. Vivar's plea was simply to give non-citizen defendants a formulaic warning of possible immigration consequences. (I CT 165.) When pressed for more information, she insisted that she also informed Mr. Vivar that, "to the best of [her] knowledge," completion of RSAT "would NOT determine whether or not he would be deported," and if he had further questions, Mr. Vivar should contact an immigration attorney.³ (I CT 162.) Put another way, she told him: *I'm not sure about your RSAT strategy, and don't take my word for it.* She did not investigate and determine whether Mr. Vivar's theory of achieving immigration safety was actually correct, nor advise him of the actual immigration consequences of H&S Code § 11383(c), or any other plea alternative. (I CT 138.)

Without direct advice about the immigration effects of his available plea options, Mr. Vivar continued to believe that pleading guilty to the drug charge would preserve a route to immigration safety because of the potential for subsequent misdemeanor reduction, while also giving him the chance to secure treatment for his substance abuse issues. (I CT 138-139.) On that belief, he entered a plea of guilty to H&S Code § 11383(c) on March 6, 2003. (I CT 9.) The Court accepted the plea, issued the sentence, and recommended RSAT treatment as stipulated. (I CT 64-67.)

3. At that moment, Mr. Vivar's life immediately changed. H&S Code § 11383(c) was an "aggravated felony" under federal immigration

³ When asked for a declaration to support these email statements, Mr. Vivar's counsel refused. (I CT 128.)

law, 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43)(B) (2000), which triggered mandatory deportation. (See I CT 148.) As a result, mere days after returning to custody, he learned that he was ineligible for RSAT—a central feature of the plea bargain he struck—due to an immigration hold. (I CT 139.) He attempted to contact his criminal defense counsel, but she did not return his calls. (*Ibid.*)

Starting one month after his guilty plea, Mr. Vivar began sending numerous letters to the trial court explaining his misunderstanding about the immigration consequences, and asking for assistance to be admitted into the RSAT program—still not comprehending that he would be deported regardless of whether he completed the RSAT program. (I CT 86–91, 118–119.) He specifically wrote: "Your honor, [i]f I would have been made aware of these facts I would never have plead[ed] Guilty to this Charge." (I CT 91.) His letters to the court went unanswered.

After transferring to immigration custody, Mr. Vivar set out to get his life back on track. (I CT 142.) During his detention, Mr. Vivar took classes to learn strategies for controlling his addiction and skills for contributing to his community once he was released. (I CT 46-51.) He rediscovered his faith, and started volunteering at the facility's church services, establishing a Bible study group for the other immigrants and refugees in the detention center. (I CT 143.) He credits his faith for helping him stay drug-free since 2002. (*Ibid.*)

After seven months in immigration custody, Mr. Vivar faced the consequence he dreaded most. (I CT 118, 139.) Although he had moved to the United States when he was six years old, had lived here for forty years, and did not speak Spanish natively, the federal government deported Mr. Vivar to Mexico in January 2003. (I CT 139.)

Banished him from his wife, citizen children and grandchildren, and the only community he ever called home, he returned in short order to the United States, without inspection, in May 2003, to rejoin and support his family. (I CT 137–140.) Determined to remain, he set out to challenge his conviction *pro se*, filing a motion to expunge under Penal Code § 1203.4, which the Riverside County Superior Court granted in 2008. (I CT 10, 140.) Three years later, however, he was again detained by immigration authorities. (I CT 140.) Only then did Mr. Vivar learn that expungement, as a matter of law, has no effect on the federal immigration consequences of a conviction. (See *infra*, at p. 34.)

Petitioner then hired yet another attorney to try to vacate his conviction due to the ineffectiveness of his plea counsel. (I CT 140.) That attorney filed a petition for a writ of *coram nobis* in 2012—even though that relief too was unavailable as a matter of law at that time. (See *People v. Kim* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1078.) Petitioner did not learn that the trial court had rejected his challenge until six months later, as his *coram nobis* counsel had abandoned the case without informing him. (I CT 123, 140.)

Petitioner was deported again in March 2013. (I CT 142.)

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