In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S260270

v.

ROBERT VIVAR,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E070926 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIF101988 The Honorable Bambi J. Moyer, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA (SBN 118517)
Attorney General of California
MICHAEL J. MONGAN (SBN 250374)
Solicitor General
LANCE E. WINTERS (SBN 162357)
Chief Assistant Attorney General
*SAMUEL P. SIEGEL (SBN 294404)
Deputy Solicitor General
1300 I Street
Sacramento, CA 95814
(916) 210-6269
Sam.Siegel@doj.ca.gov
Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal held that Vivar demonstrated "error" for purposes of section 1473.7 by showing that his trial counsel's performance "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness

¹⁴ The Court of Appeal also rejected Vivar's argument that his plea was invalid because it required him to complete the RSAT program, which Vivar argued was "impossible for defendant to meet." (Opn. 22; see also *ante*, p. 22, fn. 13.) Vivar has not sought review of that conclusion.

under prevailing professional norms at the time of his conviction." (Opn. 15; see also *id*. at pp. 11-16.) Neither party sought review of that holding. Accordingly, as the case comes to this Court, it presents only the question whether the error identified by the Court of Appeal was "prejudicial" within the meaning of section 1473.7(a)(1). In briefing the case before the Court of Appeal, respondent argued that Vivar had not established prejudice. (See Corrected Respondent's Brief at 36-39, *People v. Vivar*, No. E070926 (Mar. 22, 2019).) This Court's grant of review occasioned a fresh look at the record and the relevant case law. For the reasons set out below, respondent is now convinced that Vivar satisfied section 1473.7's prejudice requirement.

I. VIVAR ESTABLISHED PREJUDICE UNDER SECTION 1473.7

The Court of Appeal correctly held that, to establish prejudice under section 1473.7, a defendant must demonstrate a "reasonable probability" that he "would not have pleaded guilty [citation]" but for the asserted error. (Opn. 17, internal quotation marks omitted.) In reviewing a trial court's decision granting or denying a section 1473.7 motion, the Court of Appeal should "independently review" a trial court's conclusions under section 1473.7, including any factual findings based solely on written or documentary evidence. (*People v. DeJesus* (2019) 37 Cal.App.5th 1124, 1132; cf. *In re Resendiz* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 230, 248-249.) Here, the trial court did not reach or resolve the prejudice question, but an independent review of the record establishes that Vivar carried his burden of showing prejudice: The record

shows, among other things, that Vivar had lived in the United States for 40 years at the time of his plea. His entire immediate family—including his wife and two children—all lived here. He was acutely sensitive to the immigration consequences of his plea. And he was apparently offered a plea deal under which he would have pleaded guilty to a crime that could have allowed him to avoid removal. Under all the circumstances reflected in the record here, Vivar has established a reasonable probability that he would not have pleaded guilty to violating former Health and Safety Code section 11383(c) had he been advised of the immigration consequences of that plea.

A. Prejudice Under Section 1473.7 Requires Showing A Reasonable Probability That the Defendant Would Not Have Pleaded Guilty

Section 1473.7 provides that individuals are entitled to relief if they can show that their conviction or sentence is "legally invalid due to prejudicial error damaging the moving party's ability to meaningfully understand, defend against, or knowingly accept the actual or potential adverse immigration consequences of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere." (§ 1473.7, subd. (a)(1).) Determining what prejudice means in this context requires examining the "statute's words, which are the most reliable indicator of legislative intent.' [Citation.]" (*In re A.N.* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 343, 351.) This Court interprets statutory terms "in light of their ordinary meaning, while also taking account of any related provisions and the overall structure of the statutory scheme to determine what interpretation best advances the Legislature's underlying purpose." (*Ibid.*, citation and internal

quotation marks omitted.) And it presumes that the Legislature "know[s] about existing case law when it enacts or amends a statute." (*In re W.B.* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 30, 57.)

1. By the time the Legislature enacted section 1473.7, this Court had issued several decisions addressing the framework for assessing prejudice with respect to claims involving the impairment of a defendant's ability to comprehend the immigration consequences of a plea. Because those decisions inform the meaning of the term "prejudicial" in section 1473.7(a)(1), we review them in detail.

In People v. Superior Court (Zamudio) (2000) 23 Cal.4th 183, this Court considered whether defendants who did not receive the advisements required by section 1016.5 must show prejudice in order to seek vacatur of a conviction. (Id. at pp. 199-200.) After construing section 1016.5 to include a prejudice requirement (see id. at pp. 192-200), the Court articulated the standard governing the prejudice inquiry: whether it is "reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the appealing party would have been reached in the absence of the error," (id. at p. 210, quoting People v. Watson (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836.) The Court also observed that where a defendant seeks to overturn a conviction obtained through a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, he must show that it is ""reasonably probable" [that] the defendant would not have pleaded guilty if properly advised.' [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*; see also People v. Martinez (2013) 57 Cal.4th 555, 562-563 [collecting cases applying same test in the guilty plea context].)

In People v. Martinez, supra, 57 Cal.4th 555, the Court reiterated that the prejudice inquiry under section 1016.5 turns on whether the defendant would have pleaded guilty had he been properly advised. (See id. at p. 562). And it rejected the argument that defendants must show that they would have "obtained a more favorable outcome"—by, for example, prevailing at trial—had they "chosen not to plead guilty or nolo contendere." (Id. at p. 559.) The Court explained that sometimes a defendant "may view immigration consequences as the only ones that could affect his calculations regarding the advisability of pleading guilty to criminal charges' [citation]." (Id. at p. 563.) As a result, the prejudice inquiry under section 1016.5 asks "what the defendant would have done, not whether the defendant's decision would have led to a more favorable result." (Id. at p. 562.) The Court also clarified that defendants can establish prejudice either by showing that they would have "accept[ed] or tr[ied] to obtain a better bargain that d[id] not include immigration consequences," or by showing that they would have "go[ne] to trial." (Id. at p. 567.)

This Court has applied the same test to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel arising out of an attorney's failure to adequately inform a client about the immigration consequences of a plea. In *In re Resendiz*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th 230, the Court held that such claims are cognizable under *Strickland*, at least when counsel "affirmatively misadvise[s]" a client about the immigration consequences of a plea. (*Id.* at p. 253; see also *ante*, p. 10.) The Court also addressed what a defendant must show to

establish prejudice in that context. Drawing on its own prior authority and U.S. Supreme Court precedent, the Court held that *Strickland*'s prejudice inquiry requires a defendant to demonstrate a "reasonable probability" that "but for counsel's incompetence, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted, instead, on proceeding to trial." (*Ibid.* (plur. opn. of Werdegar, J.), citing *In re Alvernaz* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 924, 933-934 and *Hill v. Lockhart* (1985) 474 U.S. 52, 58-59; see also *People v. Patterson* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 885, 901-902 [reiterating same test for ineffective assistance of counsel claims].)¹⁵

The U.S. Supreme Court adopted the same test in *Lee v*. *United States* (2017) 137 S. Ct. 1958, holding that, in the context of a guilty plea, *Strickland*'s prejudice inquiry focuses on "what an individual defendant would have done" rather than the "likelihood of conviction after trial." (*Id.* at pp. 1966-1967.)¹⁶ *Lee* explained that the immigration consequences of a guilty plea can

(2008) 43 Cal.4th 1040, 1050.)

¹⁵ Although claims of ineffective assistance of counsel involve an alleged violation of a constitutional right, and claims arising out of a failure to give the section 1016.5 advisements involve an alleged state-law error, this Court has recognized that the prejudice inquiry under *Strickland* is the same as the prejudice inquiry under *Watson*. Both inquires ask whether it is reasonably probable that the outcome would have been different but for the error at issue. (See, e.g., *Richardson v. Superior Court*

¹⁶ As noted above (see *ante*, p. 10), the U.S. Supreme Court has recognized that an attorney's failure to advise a client about the immigration consequences of a plea may give rise to a claim under *Strickland*, and has directed that counsel has a duty to provide "available advice about an issue like deportation." (*Padilla v. Kentucky* (2010) 559 U.S. 356, 369-371.)

be so "dire" that defendants will sometimes choose to proceed to trial even when the odds of success are long. (*Ibid.*) In such cases, a defendant can establish prejudice by showing that he would have "rejected any plea leading to deportation—even if it shaved off prison time—in favor of throwing a 'Hail Mary' at trial." (*Id.* at p. 1967.)

Thus, by the time the Legislature enacted section 1473.7 in 2016, the prejudice standard for errors related to a defendant's ability to understand the immigration consequences of a plea was well established. And the Legislature's 2018 amendment to section 1473.7 indicates that it intended to embrace those precedents: The statutory findings for that amendment specified that it "shall be interpreted in the interests of justice and consistent with the findings and declarations made in Section 1016.2 of the Penal Code." (Stats. 2018, ch. 825, § 1, subd. (c).) Section 1016.2, in turn, was adopted as part of the Legislature's effort to "codify *Padilla v. Kentucky* and *related California case law*," and states that the Legislature intended to "encourage the growth of such case law in furtherance of justice." (§ 1016.2, subd. (h), italics added.)

Viewed in light of this precedent, the meaning of "prejudicial error" in section 1473.7 is apparent: defendants must show that it is "reasonably probable" that they "would not have pleaded guilty" but for an error that damaged their ability to meaningfully understand, defend against, or knowingly accept the actual or potential adverse immigration consequences of their plea. (*Martinez*, *supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 562, citation and internal

quotation marks omitted.) Defendants can make that showing either by establishing that they would "accept[ed] or tr[ied] to obtain a better bargain that d[id] not include immigration consequences," or by showing that they would have "go[ne] to trial" but for the error. (*Id.* at p. 567; see also OBM 27-30 [arguing for the same standard].)

2. In most cases, a defendant who files a section 1473.7 motion bears the burden of showing that he would have rejected the plea offer by a "preponderance of the evidence." (§ 1473.7, subd. (e)(1); see also *Martinez*, *supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 565.)¹⁷ This Court's precedents also provide important guidance about how trial courts should assess whether a defendant has made a sufficient showing to establish prejudice.

Initially, the defendant must establish that the "conviction or sentence being challenged is currently causing or has the potential to cause removal or the denial of an application for an immigration benefit, lawful status, or naturalization." (§ 1473.7, subd. (e)(1).) In other words, he must show "more than just a remote possibility of" [citation]" adverse immigration consequences. (*Zamudio*, *supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 201-202 [addressing section 1016.5].) The defendant must then "provide a

¹⁷ Section 1473.7 specifies one circumstance in which the defendant does not bear the burden: a plea is presumptively invalid when the "moving party pleaded guilty or nolo contendere pursuant to a statute that provided that, upon the completion of specific requirements, the arrest and conviction shall be deemed never to have occurred" but where the "disposition under the statute has been, or potentially could be, used as a basis for adverse immigration consequences." (§ 1473.7, subd. (e)(2).)

declaration or testimony stating that he or she would not have entered into the plea bargain" but for the error. (*Martinez, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 565.) Next, the trial court should determine whether or not the defendant's assertion is credible, and may reject it if it is "not supported by an explanation or other corroborating circumstances." (*Ibid.*) Where appropriate, the trial court may hold an evidentiary hearing to resolve any factual disputes. (See *Patterson*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 901.)

When deciding whether a defendant has carried his burden, trial courts should "scrutinize closely" the claim that the defendant would not have pleaded guilty but for the error. (*In re Alvernaz, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 938.) Society has a "strong... interest in finality," one that has "special force with respect to convictions based on guilty pleas.' [Citation.]" (*Lee, supra*, 137 S. Ct. at p. 1967.) And it can be "all too tempting" for a defendant to submit a declaration, years after his plea, averring that he would have rejected the plea. (*In re Alvernaz, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 938, quoting *Strickland, supra*, 466 U.S. at 689.)

For those reasons, a defendant's "self-serving statement" that he would not have not have accepted a plea bargain but for an error that damaged his ability to meaningfully understand the immigration consequences of the plea "is insufficient in and of itself to sustain the defendant's burden of proof." (In re Alvernaz, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 938.) Instead, defendants must corroborate their claims with "objective evidence" from the "time of the offer' [citation]." (In re Resendiz, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 253 (plur. opn. of Werdegar, J.); see also Lee, supra, 137 S. Ct. at p. 1967

["[c]ourts should not upset a plea solely because of *post hoc* assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded," but "should instead look to contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant's expressed preferences"]; OBM 28 [recognizing that the prejudice inquiry "focus[es] on inference from contextual evidence at or near the time of the plea"].)

This Court's precedents illuminate the kinds of "contemporaneous evidence" that courts should consider in determining whether a defendant has met his burden. (*Lee*, supra, 137 S. Ct. at p. 1967.) Among other things, courts may consider:

- whether counsel actually and accurately communicated the offer and the potential immigration consequences to the defendant (see *In re Resendiz*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 253 (plur. opn. of Werdegar, J.));¹⁸
- whether the defendant received the advisement required by section 1016.5 and, if so, the defendant's reaction (see *Patterson*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 899);
- whether the defendant expressed concerns about possible immigration consequences of the plea (see *id.* at p. 899);
- whether the defendant indicated that he was amenable to further plea bargaining (see *In re Alvernaz*, *supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 938);

¹⁸ In some cases—and perhaps many—the immigration consequences of a plea will be "unclear or uncertain." (*Padilla*, *supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 369; see also *id*. at pp. 377-381 [opn. of Alito, J., conc. in the judgment] [collecting examples].) In those circumstances, counsel's general advisement that the "pending criminal charges may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences" may be the best advice that counsel can give the client. (*Id*. at p. 369; see also *Patterson*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 898.)

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